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BEFORE THE IOWA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER

______________________________________________________________________



  :

SANTOS LOPEZ,
  :



  :

      File No. 5018075

Claimant,
  :



  :

vs.

  :

  A R B I T R A T I O N


  :                          
IBP, INC./TYSON, INC.,
  :

      D E C I S I O N


  :                      


Employer,
  :


Self-Insured,
  :                           

Defendants.
  :          Head Note Nos.:  1803; 1803.1; 1808
______________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Santos Lopez filed a petition in arbitration seeking workers’ compensation benefits from Tyson, Inc., defendant self-insured employer.  This case came on for hearing on January 10, 2008, in Des Moines, Iowa, before Deputy Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Vicki L. Seeck.  The parties requested the opportunity to file post-hearing briefs and the case was considered fully submitted on February 1, 2008.  The record consists of claimant’s exhibits 1-16; defendant’s exhibits A-N; the testimony of Santos Lopez; the testimony of Milton Chevez; and the testimony of Alberto Olguin. 

Anna Pottebaum served as Spanish language translator. 

ISSUES

The parties submitted the following issues for determination: 

1. The date of injury; 

2. Whether the injury is a cause of permanent disability; 

3. The nature and extent of the claimant’s permanent disability; 

4. The commencement date for the payment of permanent partial disability benefits; and

5. Rate.

The parties stipulated that the claimant did sustain an injury arising out of and in the course of her employment, but the date of that injury is in dispute.  The date of injury will in turn determine the commencement date for the payment of permanent partial disability benefits as the claimant has missed no time from work.  The claimant did receive 5 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits at a rate of $306.59 per week.  She also received disability income in the amount of $2,114.01. 

 The claimant’s rate also depends on a determination of the date of injury.  If the date of injury is June 8, 2005, the claimant’s gross earnings were $499.60 and the claimant was married and entitled to two exemptions.  For a June 23, 2005, date of injury, the claimant’s gross earnings were $499.18 and the claimant was married with 2 exemptions.  The rate for the June 8, 2005, date of injury is $335.57.  The rate for the June 23, 2005, date of injury is $334.96.

FINDINGS OF FACT

The deputy workers’ compensation commissioner, having heard the testimony of the witnesses and having considered all of the evidence in the record, makes the following findings of fact: 

The claimant is 54 years old and was born on November 13, 1953.  She is a native of El Salvador.  While living in El Salvador, she went to school through the fourth grade.  Spanish is her native language.  She does not speak, read, or write English.  She must rely on friends and families to assist her with any documents that are in English and her monthly bills.  Before coming to the United States, the only work she did was to assist her mother, who had a small business selling fruits and vegetables.  

Her work history prior in the United States includes a factory position in Los Angels, where she cut thread.  She was a babysitter and sold jewelry.  She then cared for an older person.  In 1999 she came to Iowa and went to work for Tyson in 1999.  The jobs she held until the onset of her pain in 2005 all required repetitive use of her arms and shoulders.  

In June 2005, she was assigned to the job of “cheek heads.”  Hog heads would come on a line and the claimant had to pull and push the heads and use her right hand to cut out the cheeks.  This was a standing job.  She used an electric knife called a whizzard.  According to the claimant, it was necessary for her to use the strength of her arms and shoulder to do the job.  It was a fast paced job.  She typically worked more than eight hours a day.  

The claimant testified that she did have episodes of pain in her shoulder, arms and neck prior to June 2005.  She reported these episodes to the medical department and would be offered treatment by the nurses at Tyson.  She might also be placed on light duty for a period of time.  She also saw Dr. Prevo.  Eventually she would get better and she would go back to her regular job.  She believes that before she had problems in June 2005 she had worked for several months without any problems. 

On June 8, 2005, the claimant reported pain in her upper extremities and neck to Tyson.  The symptoms “started very light” and then worsened.  The pain started in her neck, shoulders, arms, and fingers.  She was placed on light duty and Tyson sent her to Eric Ash, M.D.  Dr. Ash also placed her light duty and limited her lifting to 5 pounds.  He also prescribed physical therapy, which the claimant said helped her very little.  She was also referred to Todd Troll, M.D.  

The claimant consulted, on her own, Dr. Angel at La Clinica Medica Latina.  She was diagnosed with rheumatoid arthritis and carpal tunnel syndrome.  Medication was prescribed for rheumatoid arthritis.  She also spoke Dr. Angel about depression.  She felt like crying all the time and that she would never get better from the ongoing pain.  She was given medication for depression and that was helping her.  

She admitted that she had had depression in the past due to domestic problems with her husband.  She was a victim of both verbal and physical abuse.   In February 2003, she and her husband separated and she was able to wean herself off the medication.  

After being diagnosed with carpal tunnel syndrome, Tyson sent the claimant back to Dr. Troll and then to Delwin Quenzer, M.D., an orthopaedic surgeon in Des Moines.  She eventually had surgery on her left arm, but the claimant said this only made things worse and she did not have surgery on her right arm.  The pain in her left shoulder got worse.  She returned to Dr. Troll.  She also went to Dr. Angel’s clinic and admitted that she did not consistently take her medication for rheumatoid arthritis.  During this time, she was on light duty.  

In November of 2007, while still on light duty, the claimant was placed on medical leave by Tyson.  She understood she was being placed on medical leave due to a non-work related problem.  The claimant insisted that she did not agree to be placed on medical leave and refused to sign the paper.  She said she knew her problems with her shoulder, arms, and neck were work related.  She was on that leave from November 2006 through July 2007.  She eventually brought back a “paper” from a doctor that said she was allowed to work.  She felt she still needed restrictions, but she needed to work.  She still has pain in her neck, shoulder, and hands.  She is doing her regular job.  Although she is in pain, she has not complained to Tyson about that pain. 

Why the claimant was on medical leave for this roughly six month period starting in November 2006 is one of the issues in this case.  The claimant admitted that she did 
receive short term disability benefits for 13 weeks and then the full amount of unemployment benefits.  She does not know if she filled out any more than the required number of job applications.  

Another issue in this case concerns the claimant’s depression.  The claimant insisted that it is the pain that is most worrisome to her at the present time.  She did concede that she is also worried about her mother in El Salvador, who is sick.  The claimant was also questioned extensively about the situation with her ex-husband.  The claimant was most reluctant to answer questions about her ex-husband and in particular to discuss whatever physical and emotional abuse was present in the relationship.  She tried to minimize their difficulties and did not want to admit to being physically harmed by him and needing to see a doctor about the abuse.  She did say that he refused to support her and she was responsible for paying his debts, including a debt to the IRS. She also conceded that he was unfaithful and that she needed to be tested. 

She is now divorced and she testified that she was “happy to do that.”  She and her husband separated in 2003, but the divorce was not final until 2007.  Unfortunately, her ex-husband took some of her money and she was unable to recover it in the divorce.  There is in place a no-contact order.   

She was also questioned in detail about the difficulties she is having with her arms and hands.  When she wakes up in the morning, her fingers are swollen and thick.  She uses a cream that she buys at the grocery store and ices her hands when she comes home from work.  She also uses warm water and soap to help her hands move better.  There are also some exercises that she uses.  

At present she earns $12.50 per hour and usually works more than 8 hours a day.  She is doing the cheek heads job.  

The medical records confirm that the claimant has had persistent complaints of pain in her upper extremities, including her shoulders.  On November 5, 1999, the claimant reported pain in both upper extremities, as well as her upper back and neck.  (Defendant Exhibit A, page 1)  She was given a light duty job at that time.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 3)  There were similar complaints on July 20, 2001, which the claimant attributed to using a whizzard knife to trim cheeks and heads.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 6)  Again light duty was prescribed.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 9)  The claimant went to the medical department on September 27, 2001, for pain in her upper extremities, back and neck.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 12)  Another light duty assignment was given.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 16) 

On August 13, 2002, the claimant complained about bilateral wrist and elbow pain.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 17)  A report prepared by M. Clark, R.N., described neck, back bilateral shoulder, right leg, hip, buttock, knee, left upper extremity and right upper arm and elbow pain reported on February 13, 2003.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 23)  These problems were attributed to repetitive cutting with a knife that was dull and vibrated excessively.  
(Def. Ex. A, p. 23)  Another injury was reported on September 10, 2003.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 27)  The claimant was seen for bilateral shoulder and upper back pain on June 9, 2004.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 28)  On December 27, 2004, the claimant reported the same complex of symptoms, this time while using the bung gun.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 33)  

During the same time frame outlined above, the claimant was receiving medical care at what is identified as the University of Iowa – Perry.  Some of these visits had to do with work-related complaints while others concerned personal health matters of the claimant.  On December 31, 2002, the claimant saw Haydee Stewart, M.D., who recorded the following: 

Santos is a 49-y/o, Hispanic female.  With the help of Elizabeth for interpretation, she is here due to the following issues:  1) She thinks she is depressed.  She lives with her husband who physical [sic] abused her.  She is quite unhappy.  She is always tense and fearful.  In fact, she sleeps 3-4 hours a night.  She states she has been miserable for years.  She works at IBP and so does her husband, however, he is not helping pay rent or support the family financially.  She pays for everything at home.  The worst thing is that her husband is seeing different women.  She wants to be checked for STD.  2)  She states several years ago her husband beat her up and smashed her head on the wall.  Since then she has been having headaches.  At one point, she nearly passed out.  3)  She wonders why she has subjective fever for the past few months.  She has also been having a lot of problems with her stomach. 

(Def. Ex. C, p. 59) 

Dr. Stewart prescribed medication—Lexapro—for depression and ordered other testing to address the claimant’s medical problems.  (Def. Ex. C, p. 59)  This medication did help some, according to the claimant, when next seen on January 13, 2003.  (Def. Ex. C, p. 60)  On June 9, 2003, the claimant told another physician that she had stopped taking the Lexapro and that her symptoms recurred.  (Def. Ex. C, p. 62)  The medication was again prescribed.  (Def. Ex. C, p. 62)  Nothing further is mentioned about depression in the records prior to June 2005.  The claimant was prescribed Amitriptyline on March 1, 2004, but the complaint from the claimant was fatigue.  (Def. Ex. C, p. 63)  

On June 8, 2005, the claimant reported pain and swelling in right elbow, both hands and wrists, back shoulder and neck.  (Def. Ex. A, p. 44)   She was sent to the clinic and seen by Eric M. Ash, M.D.  According to his note of that day, the claimant had left shoulder discomfort and achiness in the back of her neck and down to both shoulders and the upper part of her back.  (Def. Ex. C, p. 64)  Following a physical examination, he diagnosed myofascial pain to the left shoulder as well as the bilateral trapezius ridge.  (Def. Ex. C, p. 64)  He prescribed Voltaren, physical therapy and light duty.  (Def. Ex. C, p. 64)  

The claimant returned to Dr. Ash on July 15, 2005.  (Claimant Exhibit 2, page 25)  At this visit, the claimant again complained about left shoulder and bilateral trapezius ridge pain.  (Cl. Ex. 2, p. 25)  In addition, she was also having right knee and right wrist pain.  (Cl. Ex. 2, p. 25)  Dr. Ash ordered EMG studies to see if the claimant had right carpal tunnel syndrome.  (Cl. Ex. 2, p. 25)  He also explained to the claimant that her knee pain was likely due to osteoarthritis, which was not usually associated with a work related injury.  (Cl. Ex. 2, p. 25)  The EMG studies were done on August 4, 2005, and were interpreted as normal.  (Cl. Ex. 2, p. 26)  Dr. Ash told the claimant on August 5, 2005, that since the nerve conduction studies were normal that she likely had myofascial musculoskeletal pain from chronic overuse.  (Cl. Ex. 2, p. 27)  Physical therapy and light duty were continued.  (Cl. Ex. 2, p. 27) 

The claimant’s pain complaints persisted and so Dr. Ash referred the claimant to a pain specialist.  (Cl. Ex. 2, p. 28)  She was seen by Todd Troll, M.D. on September 2, 2005.  He took the following history: 

The patient is a 52-year-old Hispanic female from El Salvador who has had intermittent complaints of myofascial pain in her scapular regions as well as the neck and back dating all the way back to 1999.  I was provided with medical records from Tyson that describe her as having pain in the shoulder girdle bilaterally as well as numbness and tingling in both hands.  Her symptoms resolved in 1999.  She then had some complaints of pain once again several months latera [sic], which then resolved.  She had complaints of low back pain, which resolved spontaneously.  Then in 2003 she had complaints of pain in the upper back, trapezius, paracervical, and lumbar spine region.  This resolved and she was released to regular duty.  In June 2005 she complained of pain in the left shoulder region and in the back of the neck down to the scapular regions.  She was seen by Dr. Ash and was placed in physical therapy.  She was also placed on restricted duty.  She has been on light duty for 3 months.  She has had treatment with Voltaren.  She had some problems with that medication and has since been taking ibuprofen.  She was given a home exercise program and was discontinued from physical therapy.  The physical therapist note states that the patient has normal range of motion in both shoulders but she has some decreased strength secondary to guarding in the left shoulder greater than the right.  Because of the persistent symptoms she was referred for my evaluation.  The patient rates her pain as an 8 in certain areas, as well as a 6 in other areas.  She has pain, which radiates down the left arm.  She has pain in both hands.  Her pain is made worse with movements. 

(Cl. Ex. 3, p. 34)  

Dr. Troll did a physical examination and found normal range of motion.  There was some muscle guarding and there were numerous tender points.  (Cl. Ex. 3, pp. 34-35)  Dr. Troll’s impression was myofascial pain syndrome.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 35)  He added that there had been similar intermittent complaints dating back to 1999.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 35)  He recommended she continue to use the ibuprofen on an as needed basis.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 35)  He further recommended that she do her previous job for 4 hours a day and light duty for 4 hours day for the next month.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 35) 

The claimant’s next visit with Dr. Troll was on October 6, 2005.  He reported the following: 

I initially evaluated this patient on 9/2/2005.  At that time I recommended that she have a physical done by her primary care physician as she has had such chronic complaints of pain.  At the time of my initial evaluation she had complaints of some fevers, sweats, bladder infections, loss of appetite and rapid heartbeat on occasion.  The patient has not yet seen her primary care physician in regard to these multiple complaints.  She has long-standing pain complaints in the same regions dating all the way back to 1999.  Basically she has a chronic pain problem.  She has had multiple treatments with physical therapy in the past and has been given a home exercise program, which she insists she has been doing.  She states that she has difficulties with her supervisor at work.  She feels that the equipment that she is using, specifically the Wizard knives are not sharp and she has to use excessive force to utilize them.  She states that her supervisor told her and other employees that they need to maintain their production despite their complaints about the knives.  When I asked the patient if she had been taking any over-the-counter medications she stated that she did not want to pay for them out of her own pocket.  She therefore did not pursue taking over-the-counter ibuprofen despite my recommending it at last visit.  The patient states she sleeps poorly.  

(Cl. Ex. 3, p. 39)  

The physical exam showed some excessive pain behavior with much guarding.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 39)  Range of motion was normal with diffuse tenderness and no focal tenderness.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 39)  Dr. Troll explained to the claimant that she had a chronic pain problem dating back to 1999 and that it was a multifactorial problem as far as etiology.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 39)  He felt that the claimant’s poor sleep contributed to the problem and recommended some Tylenol PM.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 39)  He felt she was at maximum medical improvement and did not recommend any further testing or treatment.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 39) She was to return to regular duty over the next several weeks via work hardening.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 39)  

The claimant, on her own, went to the Walk In Clinic at Broadlawns Medical Center on October 13, 2005.  The complaint was bilateral arm pain and pain into her neck and radiation down into the thoracic back area.  (Cl. Ex. 4, p. 65)  An examination 
was done and the results of that exam mirror those noted by Dr. Troll.  (Cl. Ex. 4, p. 65)  The assessment was myofascial thoracic strain and myalgia and tendonitis of the bilateral forearms secondary to overuse syndrome.  (Cl. Ex. 4, p. 65) 

She did not return Broadlawns but instead went to the Clinica Medica Latina Des Moines on November 3, 2005.  This history was taken: 

The patient is a 51 year old Hispanic female who presents for the above.  She states she works in the Tyson Food Factory and over the years since working there (since 1999), she has had increasing pain and swelling in her joints.  She tells me that she was sent to the company dr., Dr. Ash, who prescribed her Diclofenac Sodium, but she had little relief.  She says she also had a knee injury at one time and Dr. Ash told her it was arthritis but she states she does not remember him looking at her knee.  She reports she is in severe pain throughout the day and it affects her ability to work.  She says her joints at times get swollen, red, and hot.  She also says her fingers go to sleep.  She tells me that the company dr. tested her for carpal tunnel syndrome and told her she did not have it. 

(Cl. Ex. 5, p. 68)  

The physical examination that was done showed swelling in the elbows and hands and a few nodules that appeared to be Herbeden-like nodules.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 68)  There was knuckle swelling and redness.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p 68)  Muscle tension was present in the trapezius muscles.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 68)  The diagnosis was joint pain and fatigue and lab tests were ordered.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 68)  

The claimant was next seen by J. Angel, M.D., on November 8, 2005.  Dr. Angel noted diffuse nodules on her hands and forearm spaces as well as synovitis and inflammation at the wrists.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 69)  There was also acute and possibly chronic effusion in the left shoulder.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 69)  The diagnosis was rheumatoid arthritis.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 69)  An injection was given in the left shoulder and prednisone and Mobic were prescribed.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 69) 

Repeat EMG studies were done by Irving Wolfe, D.O., on November 23, 2005.  In his opinion, the study was abnormal and showed evidence of entrapment of the bilateral median nerve at the level of the wrist.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 72)  

Ava Eagles, ARNP, who is also affiliated with the Clinica Medicos Latina, saw the claimant on December 2, 2005.  She did an exam and noted that the claimant’s hands were red and edematous and that there was synovitis at the wrist and elbow.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 73)  Her joints were warm and tender to the touch and there was some swelling of the eyelids.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 73)  The claimant was also depressed, which was deemed by ARNP Eagles to be secondary to the disease process.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 73)  Medications 
for both depression and rheumatoid arthritis were prescribed after consultation with Dr. Angel.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 73)  The claimant’s attorney was said to be arranging referrals to treat the carpal tunnel syndrome.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 73) 

According to Dr. Angel’s note of January 16, 2006, the medications improved the claimant’s symptoms of weakness and fatigue.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 76)  There was also improvement on the wrist synovitis; shoulder synovitis; and possible effusion in the shoulder.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 76)  

Dr. Angel also authored a report dated January 16, 2006, which addressed the claimant’s various physical problems.  He opined that the claimant had carpal tunnel syndrome and that the claimant’s work was associated with the progression of her carpal tunnel syndrome.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 78)  He also related the claimant’s hand pain, and shoulder pain to her carpal tunnel syndrome.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 78)  

Dr. Angel also opined that the claimant had rheumatoid arthritis.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 79)  The claimant’s joint pain, including her shoulder, elbows, hands, and neck and back were “certainly related to rheumatoid arthritis” and had responded to medical management.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 79)  This rheumatoid arthritis would be a life-long condition that would not go away and would peak and trough over the years.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 79)  

He then added the following addendum: 

I reviewed a letter dated December 19 from Dr. Troll regarding the patient’s rheumatoid arthritis and carpal tunnel syndrome.  I believe that these are two commonly occurring diseases that occur independently or concomitantly and there is not a direct causal relationship.  Patient’s [sic] who have autoimmune disease are at increased risk of entrapment syndromes, but there is not a direct correlation found in all patients. 

(Cl. Ex. 5, p. 79) 

Dr. Troll’s letter, to which Dr. Angel refers, may be a handwritten response to a series of questions posed to him by Tyson following the claimant’s diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis.  Dr. Troll did evaluate the claimant again on December 19, 2005.  He reviewed the claimant’s medical records and also did a physical exam.  His impression was rheumatoid arthritis and possible carpal tunnel syndrome related to recent inflammatory arthritis.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 44)  He then stated:  

I discharged the patient as of last visit, as I felt that the patient had a chronic pain syndrome, and I did not have any further recommendations aside from continuing her home exercise program.  Given the recent diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis this could potentially explain much of the patient’s chronic pain symptoms.  I do not feel that any of her current symptoms or physical exam is related to her work.  I feel that any carpal tunnel syndrome that she may have currently would be related to the inflammatory arthritis. I do not have any further recommendations for her except for her to continue treatment of her non-work related condition by her primary care physician.

(Cl. Ex. 3, p. 44) 

Tyson referred the claimant to Delwin Quenzer, M.D., for further evaluation of her condition.  Dr. Quenzer saw the claimant on March 2, 2006.  After reviewing the medical records and taking a history from the claimant through an interpreter, he did a physical examination of the claimant.  He also did radiographic studies.  His impression was:  1.  EMG/NCS confirmed bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome; 2.  bilateral upper extremity and shoulder chronic myofascial pain; 3.  possible impingement and possible rotator cuff pathology of either shoulder; and  4.  rheumatoid arthritis.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 105)  Dr. Quenzer did not feel that surgery would improve the claimant’s symptoms relating to myofascial pain of either upper extremity or neck.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 105)  He did think it was possible that surgery would improve the numbness in either of the claimant’s hands.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 105) 

Dr. Quenzer then addressed the issue of causation.  He wrote: 

My opinion is that working at Tyson has placed her at increased risk for the development of bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, even though this is difficult to confirm in specific review of the ergonomic literature.  From the standpoint of symptom development and management, my opinion is that her work placed her at increased risk for the development of these symptoms.  Therefore, my opinion is that work at least materially aggravated the carpal tunnel syndrome bilaterally, even though there is no evidence that her work caused any anatomic or structural difference in either of her wrists.  At present, her rheumatoid arthritis is insufficiently severe to account for significant symptoms in either of her upper extremities, but it is clear from the medical records that her rheumatoid arthritis has been worse in the past.  

(Cl. Ex. 6, p. 105)  

The only surgery that Dr. Quenzer would recommend was endoscopic carpal tunnel release.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 105)  He cautioned, however, that the claimant’s rehabilitation potential was poor and that her risk of continuing to have symptoms was much higher than the traditional 95 percent expectation of relief of carpal tunnel symptoms that he normally put forth.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 105)  He then added that the chronic myofascial pain and the bilateral shoulder condition were neither caused nor materially aggravated by work.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 106)  

The claimant had left endoscopic carpal tunnel release on April 28, 2006.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 106)  When the claimant returned to see Dr. Quenzer on May 11, 2006, she said that the numbness and tingling were worse.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 107)  She was 
encouraged to use her hand both at home and at work.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 107)  On June 8, 2006, the claimant told Dr. Quenzer that she did not want surgery on her right arm as she still had significant symptoms in her left hand.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 108)  

Dr. Troll also saw the claimant following her surgery.  On July 19, 2006, he examined the claimant.  She was doing light duty at the time and was still having significant pain in her left hand.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 48)  She also told Dr. Troll that she had stopped taking her medication for rheumatoid arthritis.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 48)  He felt that she needed to see Dr. Angel again and get back on her medication as this could well be a major component of her pain complaints.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 49)  He continued the light duty.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 50)  

On August 30, 2006, Dr. Troll did a follow-up nerve conduction study.  This study showed bilateral median neuropathy at the wrist.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 51)  The claimant also complained about left shoulder pain, which was her worst pain.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 51)  No new injury was described.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 51)  The claimant wanted surgery to take away the pain.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 51)  When asked if she had called Dr. Angel’s office, she said that she had not.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 51)  Dr. Troll reiterated his view that her pain could well be related to her rheumatoid arthritis and that she needed to see Dr. Angel and get back on her medication.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 52)  He recommended that the claimant wear braces at night and he kept restrictions in place.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 52)  

Dr. Troll was asked whether the claimant had any permanent impairment as a result of her injury at Tyson.  He opined that she did not.  (CL. Ex. 3, p. 58)  He felt that the claimant’s left shoulder condition was a change from her previous physical examination and at a time when she had not been taking medications for her arthritis.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 58)  He did not feel that her current exacerbation of symptoms was work related and was likely due to her diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 58)  

The claimant did return to see Ava Eagles on September 8, 2006.  The following history was recorded: 

The patient is a 52 year old Hispanic female who presents for the above.  She is in a lot of pain again from her RA but is not taking any of her meds.  She is convinced that the pain is r/t her job and not her RA.  She ran out of her meds and hasn’t been back to get refills.  She has the most pain in her left elbow area.  She also has a lot of pain in her back and her neck.  She points to her trapezius muscles, more on the left but also some on the right.  She says she got a lot of relief form the trigger point injections in the past.  She is crying in pain today.  She says she went to see on of the drs. In Perry who put her on Lexapro and she is taking that as well as ibuprofen.  However, she is off her RA meds.  

(Cl. Ex. 5, p. 81)  

The claimant was given injections in the trapezius area and new prescriptions were provided for the arthritis.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 81)  

On October 4, 2006, the claimant saw Dr. Quenzer for her final impairment rating.  She was seen by a certified hand therapist for measurement of strength, sensation, and range of motion.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 116)  The claimant indicated that her hand was no better since surgery and that she also had left medial elbow pain, left shoulder pain, right medial and right shoulder pain.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 116)  She rated her pain as 9 on a scale of 10.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 116)  Dr. Quenzer summarized his examination findings: 

On my examination, Ms. Lopez is dramatic but appears to be making an attempt to cooperate with me.  I am only able to passively elevate her right shoulder to about 90° before she stops me with pain.  She has guarding of the left shoulder and has increased muscle tone.  When she relaxes, I do not find specific evidence of a rotational loss in either direction at the left shoulder.  She continues to note subjective sensation of bilateral medial elbow swelling.  This is a nonspecific finding which does not appear to correlate with ulnar nerve problems or problems of the elbow joint or the overlying flexor-pronator muscles in my opinion. 

The incisions have healed nicely regarding the left carpal tunnel release.  She has mildly positive Tinel signs over both median nerves at the wrist.  Hidrosis is normal in all of the digits of both hands.  

(Cl. Ex. 6, p. 117)  

Dr. Quenzer was concerned about what he termed a communication problem with the claimant.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 117)  This communication problem was due mostly to the claimant’s limited insight into her condition, even with good Spanish explanations.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 117)  Dr. Quenzer indicated in his note that he would seek an MRI to further evaluate the claimant’s left shoulder.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 117)  In a follow-up letter he said it was possible that the claimant had a frozen left shoulder relating to her left carpal tunnel syndrome.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 114)  He had, however, changed his mind about an MRI and suggested instead a course of physical therapy to see if the claimant’s shoulder truly was stiff.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 114)  

Dr. Quenzer authored a report dated November 29, 2006, concerning the claimant’s permanent impairment.  He wrote that objective testing of two-point discrimination did not demonstrate a valid and reliable objective loss of sensation and he did not find focal motor weakness of muscles innervated by the median nerve, nor of any other muscles.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 120)  He recognized that the claimant had pain, but in his opinion it was not possible to rate impairment with respect to that pain.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 120)  There was no condition in the left hand that caused ratable impairment.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 120)  Findings on the right side were similar and again, there was no permanent impairment based on a strict interpretation of AMA guides.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 121)  

Dr. Quenzer later revised his opinion concerning the claimant’s rating for her left upper extremity.  He had been unaware that a post surgical EMG study had been done by Dr. Troll.  In a report dated June 11, 2007 he said that since the EMG studies showed a mild bilateral median neuropathy at the wrist, the claimant had a 2 percent impairment to the left upper extremity.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 130)  He stood by his opinion that the claimant did not have any ratable impairment to the right upper extremity.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 130)  He added that the claimant’s chronic myofascial pain, unrelated to employment, overshadowed any component of right carpal tunnel syndrome that might be present.  (Cl. Ex. 6, p. 130)  

Dr. Quenzer rejected any notion that restrictions placed on the claimant by Dr. Troll were based primarily or substantially upon her bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome.  He stated: 

My opinion is that this patient has chronic myofascial pain and this may or may not be related to her underlying rheumatoid arthritis.  She has a syndrome characterized by subjective findings which are far out of proportion to objective clinical findings.  It is this perceived pain which causes her disability.  The cause of the perceived pain is unclear and cannot be determined with a reasonable degree of medical certainty from the standpoint of hand surgery. Other factors may be significant.  

(Cl. Ex. 6, p. 131)  

The claimant’s attorney arranged for an independent medical evaluation with Jacqueline M. Stoken, D.O.  This evaluation took place on January 23, 2007.  According to Dr. Stoken’s report, the claimant’s complaints were pain in her back, neck and both arms and elbows that was described as aching, shooting, stabbing, sharp, tiring, continuous, penetrating, numbness and unbearable.  (Cl. Ex. 9, p. 141)  The pain averaged 9 on a one to ten scale.  (Cl. Ex. 9, p. 141)  The claimant told Dr. Stoken that she was hurt at work when she had to do a lot of repetitive gripping, grasping, and cutting and the knives were very dull and she had to use a lot of pressure to cut the meat.  (Cl. Ex. 9, p. 141)  

Dr. Stoken did a physical examination and offered the following impression: 

1. Status post work injury on 6/08/05 with repetitive stress syndrome of the bilateral upper extremities, bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, medial and lateral epicondylitis, left shoulder adhesive capsulitis, and right shoulder bursitis. 

2. Status post left carpal tunnel release on 4/28/06.

3. Status post multiple falls with cervical and lumbar strains.

4. Chronic low back pain with sciatica.

5. Chronic myofascial cervical pain. 

(Cl. Ex. 9, p. 142) 

Dr. Stoken rated the claimant as having a 5 percent left upper extremity impairment; and a 23.4 percent right upper extremity impairment.  (Cl. Ex. 9, pp. 142-143)  For the bilateral shoulder condition, she give the claimant 7 percent of the whole person for the right side and 14 percent of the whole person for the left side.  (CL. Ex. 9, p. 144)  She then adds that the claimant is not at maximum medical improvement with regard to the bilateral shoulder problem.  (Cl. Ex. 9, p. 144)   Dr. Stoken also set forth reasonable permanent restrictions, to include avoiding repetitive grasping, gripping and pinching and working at or above shoulder level.  (CL. Ex. 9, pp. 143-144)  In her opinion, all of these conditions were due to repetitive work at Tyson. 

The defendants then asked Dr. Troll to see the claimant again.  This evaluation was done on December 6, 2007.  The claimant told Dr. Troll that she had pain in her neck and down both arms.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 60)  She was able to do her current job – trimming cheeks -- with medications that she takes.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 60)  A notable finding in her physical examination was that she had diminished range of motion in the left shoulder.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 60)  

Dr. Troll then commented on his findings: 

The patient has definite restrictions in left shoulder range of motion, for which one could assign impairment.  She has restrictions in left shoulder flexion, abduction, adduction, external rotation and internal rotation.  This ncludes [sic] assignment impairment to these specific restrictions would be 6% for decreased left shoulder flexion; 6% for deceased left shoulder abduction; 1% for decreased shoulder adduction, 1% for decreased left shoulder external rotation; and 2% for decreased left shoulder internal rotation.  Using combined values chart, would achieve 16% impairment rating for the left upper extremity.  The question remains as to whether or not this is a work-related problem.  The patient certainly did not have this condition on 07/19/2006.  When I examined her she had normal range of motion in both upper extremities.  On 08/30/2006 the patient had developed decreased range of motion in the left shoulder with complaints of severe pain.  The etiology of this particular problem is unknown.  She did not describe any new injury to the left shoulder at that time and could possibly have developed, in my opinion, adhesive capsulitis spontaneously.  The patient has clinical findings of carpal tunnel syndrome with bilateral positive Phalen’s signs.  She has electrodiagnostic evidence of bilateral median nerve dysfunction with mildly prolonged bilateral median orthodomic latencies.  It remains questionable in my mind as to whether or not this particular problem is work related.  The patient had symptoms dating all the way back to 1999 with clinical findings consisting of positive Phalen’s sign bilaterally.  If this condition was work related, one would think that her electrodiagnostic studies would be worsening the longer she worked.  It is my opinion that carpal tunnel syndrome is a multifactorial problem, and it is quite difficult to absolutely prove work activity as a causative factor.  If the bilateral carpal tunnel syndromes were deemed to be work related, then the impairment for both would be no more than 5% of the upper extremity for each.  In regard to the patient’s complaints of neck pain, this has been a chronic problem since 1999.  There has been no distinct report of an injury.  She simply has had complaints of neck pain.  To assign diagnostic related impairment as Dr. Stoken did, there needs to be a clinical history and examination findings compatible with a specific injury.  There does not appear to be a specific injury that one could assign the patient’s symptoms and physical findings.  I, therefore, do think it is valid to assign any impairment for the patient’s chronic neck complaints.  

(Cl. Ex. 3, pp. 60-61)  

Dr. Troll specifically took issue with Dr. Stoken’s premise that all of the claimant’s pain complaints were related to repetitive stress syndrome.  (CL. Ex. 3, p. 61)  Dr. Troll noted that this is a controversial entity in and of itself, but particularly so given this claimant’s other medical problems and medical history.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 61)  He did not believe that the claimant needed any restrictions and that she should be able to continue to work in her present job.  (Cl. Ex. 3, p. 61) 

Dr. Angel was asked by the claimant’s attorney to comment on both Dr. Troll’s report and Dr. Stoken’s report.  He did not believe that the claimant’s rheumatoid arthritis was a primary cause of the claimant’s symptoms.  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 96)  He supported Dr. Stoken’s impression that the predominant factor was repetitive activities and “the trauma therein. . .  .”  (Cl. Ex. 5, p. 96)  There is nothing in the record to indicate that he personally examined the claimant in 2007.  The last medical evidence from his office was a note from Ava Eagles in September 2006. 

The claimant was seen at Primary Health care in Des Moines on June 26, 2007.  She was seen by Melina Hubbard, PA.  The history that seems to have been taken was OA of the shoulder, which could be osteoarthritis.  (Cl. Ex. 8, p. 133)  There is also a notation that the claimant had an injection 3-4 months ago with good relief.  (Cl. Ex. 8, p. 133)  She was prescribed Mobic and given a release to return to work on June 29, 2007.  (Cl. Ex. 8, p. 134)  The release said “ok to work with arthritis in shoulders.”  (Cl. Ex. 8, p. 134)  

Milton Chavez testified on behalf of the defendant.  He is the claimant’s current supervisor.  He confirmed that the claimant is presently doing the cheek head job.  She uses an electric knife that weighs less than half a pound.  She is doing the job without difficulty based on his observation.  She has no restrictions at the present time.  He checks in with her to see how she is doing and she has not voiced any problems to him. There is nothing lacking her production or quality of work.  

Alberto Olguin testified on behalf of the defendant.  He has been the human resources director for the past fourteen years.  He speaks Spanish fluently.  He was asked about the claimant’s leave of absence.  He testified that the claimant was placed on a leave of absence due to a nonoccupational medical condition.  The claimant had had a work related condition, which resolved, but she told Tyson that she could not do her regular job even though the work related injury restrictions had been lifted.  Given that circumstance, it was Tyson’s policy that she could not return to work until she had a full release for what was deemed a non-occupational problem. 

Mr. Olguin testified that he told the claimant she must have a full release in order to return to work and that this conversation took place on several occasions.  The leave commenced on November 17, 2006 and was extended until July 2007.  It was then that the claimant brought the proper release.  On cross examination he said that he did not make the decision on whether a given condition was work related or not.  

The record also contains a report from Roger Marquardt, a vocational consultant retained by the claimant.  Although Mr. Marquardt’s report was thoroughly reviewed, as was every piece of evidence in this record, a detailed comment on that report will not be made in the findings of fact.  The parties can be assured that all evidence was reviewed and considered prior to issuing the decision in this case. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established ordinarily has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6)(e).

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).

A personal injury contemplated by the workers’ compensation law means an injury, the impairment of health or a disease resulting from an injury which comes about, not through the natural building up and tearing down of the human body, but because of trauma.  The injury must be something that acts extraneously to the natural processes of nature and thereby impairs the health, interrupts or otherwise destroys or damages a part or all of the body.  Although many injuries have a traumatic onset, there is no requirement for a special incident or an unusual occurrence.  Injuries which result from cumulative trauma are compensable.  Increased disability from a prior injury, even if brought about by further work, does not constitute a new injury, however.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).  An occupational disease covered by chapter 85A is specifically excluded from the definition of personal injury.  Iowa Code section 85.61(4) (b); Iowa Code section 85A.8; Iowa Code section 85A.14.

When the injury develops gradually over time, the cumulative injury rule applies.  The date of injury for cumulative injury purposes is the date on which the disability manifests.  Manifestation is best characterized as that date on which both the fact of injury and the causal relationship of the injury to the claimant’s employment would be plainly apparent to a reasonable person.  The date of manifestation inherently is a fact based determination.  The fact-finder is entitled to substantial latitude in making this determination and may consider a variety of factors, none of which is necessarily dispositive in establishing a manifestation date.  Among others, the factors may include missing work when the condition prevents performing the job, or receiving significant medical care for the condition.  For time limitation purposes, the discovery rule then becomes pertinent so the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the employee, as a reasonable person, knows or should know, that the cumulative injury condition is serious enough to have a permanent, adverse impact on his or her employment.  Herrera v. IBP, Inc., 633 N.W.2d 284 (Iowa 2001); Oscar Mayer Foods Corp. v. Tasler, 483 N.W.2d 824 (Iowa 1992); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).

Section 85.34(1) provides that healing period benefits are payable to an injured worker who has suffered permanent partial disability until (1) the worker has returned to work; (2) the worker is medically capable of returning to substantially similar employment; or (3) the worker has achieved maximum medical recovery.  The healing period can be considered the period during which there is a reasonable expectation of improvement of the disabling condition.  See Armstrong Tire & Rubber Co. v. Kubli, Iowa App 312 N.W.2d 60 (1981).  Healing period benefits can be interrupted or intermittent.  Teel v. McCord, 394 N.W.2d 405 (Iowa 1986).

Under the Iowa Workers' Compensation Act, permanent partial disability is compensated either for a loss or loss of use of a scheduled member under Iowa Code section 85.34(2)(a)-(t) or for loss of earning capacity under section 85.34(2)(u).  The extent of scheduled member disability benefits to which an injured worker is entitled is determined by using the functional method.  Functional disability is "limited to the loss of the physiological capacity of the body or body part.”  Mortimer v. Fruehauf Corp., 502 N.W.2d 12, 15 (Iowa 1993); Sherman v. Pella Corp., 576 N.W.2d 312 (Iowa 1998).  The fact finder must consider both medical and lay evidence relating to the extent of the functional loss in determining permanent disability resulting from an injury to a scheduled member.  Terwilliger v. Snap-On Tools Corp., 529 N.W.2d 267, 272-273 (Iowa 1995); Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417, 420 (Iowa  1994).

The in-depth review of the medical evidence in this case shows that there are widely divergent views on the nature and etiology of the claimant’s pain complaints.  The claimant alleges that she has chronic, debilitating pain in multiple areas of her body including both arms, both shoulders, neck and back.  She also states that she suffers from depression as a result of this chronic pain.  The defendant argues that the claimant’s alleged injury is limited to the left arm only.  The claimant had surgery on her left arm for carpal tunnel syndrome.  Although she did have a diagnosis of right carpal tunnel syndrome as well, she has not had surgery on her right arm. 

The first issue to be taken up is the date of injury, which is a separate inquiry from the nature and extent of that injury.  This is a cumulative trauma claim and Iowa law states that the date of injury for cumulative injury is the date on which the disability manifests.  Manifestation is best characterized as that date on which both the fact of injury and the causal relationship of the injury to the claimant’s employment would be plainly apparent to a reasonable person.  It is a fact-based inquiry.  

The parties have suggested two possible dates of injury in this case.  The first date is June 8, 2005, the date that the claimant reported physical problems to her employer.  The second date is June 23, 2005, the date the claimant was first seen by a physician, Eric Ash, M.D.  The claimant has not missed any time from work following her injury and therefore the commencement of lost time does not assist in this analysis.  The date of June 8, 2005, will be used as the date of injury since it is from that date onward that the claimant was regularly evaluated by health care providers for her various complaints. 

Determining the date of injury does not, however, answer the questions surrounding the etiology of the claimant’s injury or the nature and extent of that injury.  The claimant has had a variety of pain complaints affecting multiple parts of her body ever since she started working at Tyson.  On August 31, 1999, which is only 15 days after she started at the plant, the claimant reported left elbow and forearm pain.  From that day on, the claimant had pain symptoms on an intermittent basis and which were reported to the employer.  The employer, in turn, evaluated the claimant, provided some treatment and placed her on light duty.  On December 27, 2004, the claimant had pain in her upper extremities, shoulders, back and neck.  The same regimen was followed. 

At first reading, this history would suggest that the claimant’s pain and her work were temporally associated.  The medical records, however, paint a more complicated picture.  For example, the claimant told Dr. Stewart on December 28, 2002, that she was depressed and had been miserable for years due to abuse from her husband.  This abuse was both verbal and physical.  The claimant confided that her husband had beaten her and smashed her head against the wall, leading to persistent headaches.  She had difficulty sleeping.  She was prescribed medication and according to a note on June 9, 2003, this medication had helped her and that her symptoms of depression had recurred following stoppage of the anti-depressant.  She had a fall in her bathroom that led to pain in her upper chest.  There was pain in her back on February 9, 2004, associated perhaps with a mild urinary tract infection.  On March 1, 2004, the claimant complained of being very tired and achy all over and that she had been tired for about a month now.  She was unable to sleep well and having gastric problems.  

When Dr. Ash first saw the claimant on June 23, 2005, she had left shoulder discomfort and achiness in her left shoulder, the back of her neck, down her shoulders and the upper part of the back.  Again, this was described as “just kind of achy and sore and uncomfortable.”  (Def. Ex. C, p. 64)  Dr. Ash tried to treat these complaints with physical therapy and then referred the claimant to Dr. Troll when the pain persisted.  Dr. Ash and Dr. Troll concluded that while the claimant had pain, there was no relationship between that pain and the claimant’s work.  Dr. Troll kept encouraging the claimant to see her personal physician to have her complaints further evaluated, something the claimant was reluctant to do.  

The claimant was eventually diagnosed with rheumatoid arthritis and the claimant agrees that this condition is not work related.  Dr. Troll, in particular, points out that the claimant’s rheumatoid arthritis is a likely explanation for her ongoing complaints of pain. The medical records show that the claimant does not regularly take her medication for rheumatoid arthritis and there does seem to be a correlation between the level of pain and compliance with the regimen designed to treat the claimant’s pain complaints.  

How then to sort all this out?  The weight of the medical evidence is that the claimant has bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome that is work related.  Dr. Quenzer provided a very persuasive opinion that the claimant’s work at Tyson put her at risk for developing bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome.  He rejected, however, the conclusion that her work was a substantial contributing cause of her other complaints of pain.  Although Dr. Troll did not agree with Dr. Quenzer on the cause of the claimant’s bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, he and Dr. Quenzer did agree that the etiology of the claimant’s myofascial pain syndrome was not work related.  Although Dr. Quenzer initially thought that the claimant might have a left frozen shoulder, it should be noted that he said that any connection between the claimant’s left shoulder problems and her carpal tunnel syndrome was only possible.  

Dr. Troll and Dr. Quenzer are in an ideal position to evaluate the claimant’s condition and comment on the relationship between the claimant’s work and her pain complaints since they have seen the claimant over a longer period of time.  Based on a review of their records, they also have more knowledge about the exact nature of the claimant’s work.  Dr. Stoken’s opinions on causation are rejected because she does not have the benefit of that perspective and does not take into account the role that the claimant’s rheumatoid arthritis plays in her pain complaints.  She was a one time evaluator.  Dr. Angel’s opinion is likewise rejected.  Although he identifies himself as the claimant’s personal physician, his actual experience with the claimant is quite limited.  There is nothing in the record to indicate that he has even seen the claimant in 2007.  This fact certainly undercuts his opinions on causation and extent of impairment.  

There is no doubt that the claimant sincerely believes that all of her pain complaints are due to her work at Tyson.  Understandably she tends to minimize all of the other factors that impact on her level of pain.  She seems particularly reluctant to aggressively treat her rheumatoid arthritis.  Dr. Quenzer noted that the claimant had limited insight into her condition, despite explanation to her in Spanish.  

The greater weight of the evidence in this case is that the claimant has bilateral carpal tunnel, which is work related, and a myofascial pain syndrome which is not work related.  As far as the extent of her injury, the evidence is again at odds.  The claimant has bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, but only had surgery on her left side.  According to Dr. Quenzer, she has an impairment of 2 percent of the left upper extremity, based on the AMA Guides to Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition.  She has no impairment to the right side.  Dr. Troll indicates that at the most the claimant has 5 percent impairment to “both sides” if the carpal tunnel syndrome is deemed work related.  Dr. Stoken’s ratings for permanent impairment are rejected as those ratings are inclusive for conditions not determined to work related.  

The claimant has no permanent work restrictions and, according to Dr. Quenzer, the claimant is not in need of any restrictions due to her carpal tunnel syndrome.  She has been working at her regular job with no restrictions and no complaints since July 2007.  She testified that she believes she needs the restrictions given to her by Dr. Stoken, but she has not presented credible evidence that those restrictions are due to any work related condition nor has she requested these restrictions be implemented.  In fact, the claimant secured a work release in order to return to work after having received short term disability benefits and unemployment benefits.  The claimant did testify that she continues to have pain and that she works because she needs the income.  She is afraid she will lose her job if she does complain, but she presented no credible evidence that this would happen.  

Based, then, on a consideration of all of the evidence in this case, it is determined that the claimant sustained an injury to two scheduled members—her left arm and her right arm—on June 8, 2005.  Benefits for permanent partial disability of two members caused by a single accident is a scheduled benefit under section 85.34(2)(s).  The degree of disability must be computed on a functional basis with a maximum benefit entitlement of 500 weeks.  The claimant’s loss of function has been evaluated based on both the medical evidence and the lay testimony.  It is concluded that the claimant’s permanent disability is 10 percent, which entitles the claimant to 50 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits.  The date of injury in this case was previously determined to be June 8, 2005, and since there is no lost time from work, the claimant’s permanent partial disability benefits commence on the date of injury.

The defendant is entitled to a credit against this award for permanent partial disability benefits based on the stipulations contained in the hearing report.  The defendant has previously paid five weeks of permanent partial disability benefits at a rate of $306.59.  The claimant has also received $2,114.01 in short term disability benefits and the defendant is entitled to a credit for that amount as well.  

The claimant has requested a taxation of costs.  The claimant’s taxable costs are limited to $150.00 for the report of Dr. Angel.  The defendant will not be taxed for the cost of Roger Marquardt’s report.  

ORDER

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED: 

That the defendant, Tyson, Inc., shall pay to the claimant, Santos Lopez, fifty (50) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits at a rate of three hundred thirty-five and 57/100 dollars ($335.57) commencing on June 8, 2005; 

That the defendant shall pay interest as provided in Iowa Code section 85.30; 

That all accrued benefits, including any underpayment of weekly benefits, shall be paid to the claimant in a lump sum; 

That the defendant is entitled to a credit against the payment of permanent partial disability benefits as set forth on the hearing report; 

That costs are taxed to the defendant in the amount of two hundred twenty-four and 76/100 dollars ($224.76);  and

That the defendant shall file further reports of injury as required by this agency. 

Signed and filed this ____8th____ day of April, 2008.

   ________________________







  VICKI L. SEECK
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